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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

RICHMOND DIVISION 

POWHATAN COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

Civil Action No. 3:24-cv-874 

MR. TODD SKINGER, PARENT; 

and 

DR. KANDISE LUCAS, BA, MSED, RBT, FFT, PHD, QMHP 

COMPANION-ADVOCATE 

Defendants. 

U 

MAR 282025 

CLERK, 
U.S. 

DISTRICT
I  TR I T 

COURT 
RICHMO

DEFENDANTS' OBJECTION TO PLAINTIFF'S EMERGENCY MOTION FOR 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Defendants Todd Skinger and Dr. Kandise Lucas, appearing pro se, hereby jointly object to the 

Plaintiff Powhatan County School Board's (PCSB) Emergency Motion for Preliminary 

Injunction filed on March 26, 2025. Plaintiff's motion constitutes a clear violation of the 
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Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq., misrepresents 

material facts to the Court, and was initiated without the consent of the school board—raising 

serious procedural and ethical concerns.The requested emergency injunction is without merit and 

should be denied. Powhatan County Public Schools and Sands Anderson Law Firm's actions 

have consistently violated district, federal, and state laws, including the Individuals with 

Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), Virginia Code, and 

HIPAA pitfections, leading to egregious harm to H.S. and their family. 

The school district's actions—ranging from unauthorized legal actions to the obstruction of 

parental involvement and interference with educational rights—are in direct violation of IDEA, 

HIPAA, and the Virginia Code. Additionally, Sands Anderson Law Firm has overstepped its 

boundaries by improperly asserting rights to access confidential medical, educational, and mental 

health records, which were not within the scope of their client agreement. 

Moreover, this lawsuit and the motion at hand are part of an escalating pattern of retaliation 

against Defendants, amounting to Level Three of the Retaliation Triangle. PCSB and its 

improperly outsourced attorneys at Sands Anderson, including Matthew Green, have engaged in 

a consistent pattern of misconduct, which includes: 

1. Fraudulently Concealing Critical Medical Documentation: This includes Dr. Talibi's 

certification for homebound services and Therapist Kauffman's mental health 

recommendations. 
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2. Knowingly Misrepresenting the Parent's Request for home-Based Instruction: Lead 

Teacher Stefanie Rivere falsely claimed that the parent did not request such instruction. 

3. Violating H.S.'s Right to a Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE): PCSB has 

violated IDEA, Section 504, and the ADA by failing to provide the required services. 

4. Filing Fraudulent 'Truancy Complaints: PCSB has filed truancy complaints against a 

medically fragile child in violation of federal disability protections. 

5. Withholding Educational and Medical Records: This has obstructed parental rights 

and due process. 

6. Engaging in Retaliatory Litigation: This includes the fraudulent December 2024 

SLAPP suit initiated by Superintendent Beth Tiegen and Sands Anderson Attorney 

Matthew Green to harass and silence a parent and advocate. 

7. Abusing the Judicial Process: Sands Anderson's ongoing misrepresentations and 

obstructionist tactics have disrupted due process and harmed the educational rights of the 

family. 

8. Defying Multiple Directives: These include directives from the Virginia Department of 

Education in June and August 2023, Administrative Hearing Officer Carl Schmidt in 
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January 2024, Judge Robert Payne's federal court order in August 2024, and Magistrate 

Judge Summer Speight's order in September 2024. 

9. Filing Repeated Legal Actions Does Not Constitute Vexatious Litigation 

Courts have long held that filing repeated legal actions in response to ongoing violations 

does not constitute vexatious litigation (Hicks v. Miranda, 422 U.S. 332 (1975)). Rather, 

it is a response to persistent unlawful conduct by the violating party—Powhatan County 

Public Schools (PCPS)—which continues to infringe upon the rights of H.S. and 

obstructs her access to the medical and educational services to which she is entitled under 

federal law. The Plaintiffs use of multiple legal actions reflects a pattern of abuse and 

retaliation against the rights of children with disabilities and their advocates, not 

vexatious litigation. The ongoing violations perpetrated by PCPS underscore the need for 

persistent legal action to ensure compliance with IDEA and other applicable protections. 

A. Plaintiff's Requested Injunction Violates the Exhaustion l)octrine 

The IDEA mandates exhaustion of administrative remedies before judicial intervention 

can be sought (Fry v. Napoleon Cmty. Sch., 580 U.S. 154 (2017)). The Plaintiffs request 

to preemptively halt ongoing due process proceedings violates this well-established 

requirement. Courts have consistently rejected attempts to block IDEA complaints before 

they have been fully adjudicated (Doe v. Arizona Dep't of Educ., 111 F.3d 678 (9th Cir. 

1997)). Plaintiffs request is particularly egregious as: 
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1. PCPS has not allowed the due process complaints to proceed to resolution, meaning no 

administrative record exists and the required administrative remedies have not been 

exhausted. 

2. The complaints involve ongoing violations of H.S.'s educational rights, and the 

exhaustion requirement is mandatory to ensure that the administrative process is given a 

chance to resolve these issues before federal court intervention. 

Therefore, Plaintiffs request for an injunction is legally impermissible and must be denied. 

Additionally, PCSB employees, including Superintendent Beth Tiegen and Lynn Prince, have 

actively participated in this fraudulent scheme by aiding in the concealment of critical records 

and obstructing lawful parental advocacy. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants request that this Court: 

1. Deny Plaintiff's Emergency Motion for Preliminary Injunction in its entirety; 

2. Find that Plaintiff's counsel violated Rule 3.3 by making false statements in its 

December 2024 filing; 

3. Dismiss the lawsuit as an improper SLAPP suit, filed without school board 

approval; 
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4. Grant any further relief this Court deems just and appropriate. 

The PCSB's motion is nothing more than an attempt to evade accountability for its continued 

violations of IDEA, the ADA, and Section 504. PCSB has engaged in systemic procedural and 

substantive violations, including, but not limited to: 

• Fraudulent Concealment of Medical Directives — PCSB, through its counsel at Sands 

Anderson and Hearing Officer Tiegen, continues to fraudulently conceal the medical 

homebound directives of Dr. Talibi from H.S.'s IEP Team and the courts. 

• Retaliation Against Advocates and Parents — The Plaintiff's motion seeks to silence 

and penalize Defendants for exercising their statutory rights under IDEA, which provides 

for the right to file due process complaints when a local educational agency fails to 

provide a Free Appropriate Public Education ("FAPE"). 

• Deliberate Indifference to Medical Emergencies — As recently as March 25, 2025, H.S. 

suffered a debilitating panic attack at school, requiring immediate pickup. The school 

nurse, Nurse Short, failed to document or communicate the medical incident to the 

family, further demonstrating PCSB 's reckless disregard for the student's safety and 

well-being. 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 
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A preliminary injunction is an extraordinary remedy that should only be granted upon the 

movant's clear demonstration of: 

• A likelihood of success on the merits; 

• Irreparable harm in the absence of relief; 

• The balance of equities favoring the movant; and 

• That the injunction serves the public interest. 

Winter a Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008).PCSB fails to meet any of these 

factors. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiff Cannot Show a Likelihood of Success on the Merits 

PCSB's claims rely on mischaracterizations and legal misapplications: 

1. No Legal Basis to Prevent Due Process Filings — IDEA explicitly allows parents and 

advocates to file due process complaints when a school district violates a student's rights. 

There is no legal precedent for forcing a parent or advocate to withdraw complaints, and 

the relief PCSB seeks is a direct violation of procedural safeguards under 20 U.S.C. § 

1415. 
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2. Plaintiff's Own Misconduct Warrants Continued Legal Action — PCSB misrepresents 

the basis of the complaints. The additional due process filings arise from ongoing and 

distinct violations, including: 

o Continued failure to provide FAPE 

o Refusal to acknowledge medical documentation 

o Obstruction of procedural rights under IDEA 

3. Each due process complaint is legally and factually supported. PCSB cannot claim 

harassment when it continues to violate federal law. 

B. Plaintiff Fails to Demonstrate Irreparable Harm 

PCSB alleges that responding to due process complaints constitutes "irreparable harm." 

However: 

1. Administrative Burden Does Not Constitute Irreparable Harm — Participating in due 

process proceedings is a legal requirement for school districts under IDEA. Schaffer u 

Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 60 (2005). 
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2. Harm to the Student Outweighs Any Burden on PCSB — 11.S. continues to suffer 

significant harm due to PCSB's noncompliance, including: 

o Psychological distress from unsafe school conditions 

o Medical neglect and lack of required accommodations 

o Repeated procedural violations obstructing access to FAPE 

C. The Balance of Equities and Public Interest Weigh Against an Injunction 

1. Equitable Relief Cannot Be Granted to Shield a Party from Its Own Misconduct — 

PCSB seeks an injunction not to prevent harm, but to silence legitimate legal challenges 

to its ongoing IDEA violations. The balance of equities favors Defendants, who are 

acting in the best interest of a vulnerable child. 

2. Public Interest Favors Enforcement of Disability Rights — Granting the injunction 

would set a dangerous precedent, discouraging parents and advocates from holding 

school districts accountable. The public interest lies in ensuring compliance with federal 

disability laws, not in insulating school districts from legal scrutiny. 

D. Parents Have a Right to File Multiple Due Process Complaints to Address Systemic 

Violations 
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Under IDEA, parents have an explicit right to file due process complaints whenever a school 

district fails to provide a Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE)—particularly in cases of 

ongoing, systemic violations. Courts have repeatedly upheld this right: 

• D.B. v. Esposito, 675 F.3d 26 (1st Cir. 2012) — Held that the IDEA does not limit the 

number of due process complaints that may be filed, especially where new violations 

continue to occur or a school district remains noncompliant with prior orders. 

• Niehaus v. Huppenthal, 233 F. Supp. 3d 1076 (D. Ariz. 2017) — Confirmed that parents 

can file multiple due process complaints where school systems fail to implement prior 

corrective actions or new issues arise that impact the child's educational rights. 

• M.S. v. Marple Newtown Sch. Dist., 635 F. App'x 79 (3d Cir. 2015) — Found that 

requiring parents to seek court approval before filing new due process complaints was a 

direct violation of their IDEA rights, as due process hearings must remain an accessible 

administrative remedy. 

E. PCSB Seeks an Unlawful Restriction on Due Process Rights 

The requested injunction seeks to prevent the Defendants from filing further due process 

complaints without first obtaining court approval. However, IDEA explicitly prohibits such a 

restriction, as it would limit access to procedural safeguards meant to protect children with 

disabilities (20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(6), (k)). 

Courts have repeatedly rejected school district attempts to bar parents from filing multiple due 

process complaints, recognizing that new violations, noncompliance, or retaliation necessitate 
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new filings. By requesting the Court to terminate pending due process hearings, PCSB is seeking 

to interfere with federally mandated administrative procedures, violating 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2). 

F. Ongoing Harm to H.S. Due to School District Noncompliance 

PCSB falsely asserts that multiple due process filings are "duplicative," when in reality, each 

complaint addresses distinct, ongoing violations. Specifically: 

• H.S. remains unable to attend school consistently due to medical necessity, as determined 

by Dr. Talibi on February 5, 2024; requiring that medical homebound instruction be 

included as an educational placement option to address her chronic illness flare ups that 

have tripled since January 2025; when she was court-ordered to return to school in person 

against medical and mental health directives by Judge Theresa Royall. 

• Listen to Dr. Talibi's 5/21/24 medical directive that Katie Matheney disregarded: Link 

to Audio 

• Judge Theresa Royall defied medical directives by ordering in-person placement without 

medical clearance, leading to a severe deterioration in H.S.'s mental health, including 

increasing panic attacks. 

• The school district's refusal to comply with medically necessary homebound/home-based 

instruction continues to cause irreparable harm. 

• Denial of Due Process Rights Would Cause Irreparable Harm to I.S. 

The irreparable hann standard weighs heavily against granting Plaintiff's request. Denial 
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of legally mandated educational services and accommodations for children with 

disabilities has been found to cause irreparable harm (New York v. United States Dep't of 

Educ., 903 F.3d 520 (2d Cir. 2018)). Granting the Plaintiffs injunction would: 

1. Deprive H.S. of urgent medical and educational accommodations that are necessary to 

address her ongoing needs. 

2. Allow PCPS to continue violating federal law without accountability. 

3. Set a dangerous precedent by preemptively blocking IDEA due process rights, 

undermining the protections that these laws afford children with disabilities and their 

families. 

In contrast, PCPS faces no legitimate harm by being required to comply with federal law and 

IDEA regulations. The only "burden" cited by the Plaintiff is the inconvenience of being held 

accountable for its repeated violations. This does not meet the legal standard for irreparable 

harm, and therefore, the requested injunction should be denied. 

• Conspiracy to Deprive H.S. of Rights for Unjust Enrichment 

The actions of Powhatan County Public Schools, Sands Anderson, and their 

co-conspirators reflect a deliberate and sustained effort to deprive H.S. of her federally 

protected rights to medical and educational accommodations. This pattern of obstruction 

and bad faith litigation aims to delay and avoid the legal consequences of these violations 

while unjustly enriching the parties involved. This conduct constitutes a conspiracy to 

deprive H.S. of her rights under IDEA, Section 504, and other applicable laws. By 
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requesting an injunction to block H.S.'s due process claims, the Plaintiff seeks to 

perpetuate this unlawful conduct without regard for H.S.'s rights or the long-term harm it 

causes. 

G. BAD-FAITH LITIGATION AND SANCTIONS 

Plaintiff's abuse of the judicial process warrants sanctions under Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. The Plaintiff has engaged in actions that include: 

1. Knowingly Filing False Claims and Misrepresenting Evidence to the Court: The 

motion for an injunction is based on misstatements and material omissions meant to 

mislead the Court. 

2. Engaging in Litigation to Harass and Retaliate Against a Student's Advocate: The 

Plaintiff's actions are retaliatory in nature and aim to punish and silence Defendants, who 

are advocating for the rights of a student with disabilities. 

3. Fraudulently Concealing Critical Medical Evidence to Obstruct Due Process: The 

Plaintiff has concealed critical documentation, including Dr. Talibi's certification for 

homebound services and Therapist Kauffman's mental health recommendations, in 

violation of federal law. 

In light of these egregious actions, Defendants request that the Court impose sanctions against 

PCPS and Sands Anderson, including: 
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• Monetary Sanctions: For bad-faith litigation tactics, including the fraudulent filing of 

motions and misleading the Court. 

• An Order Compelling the Immediate Disclosure of All Concealed Records: To ensure 

that all relevant evidence is made available and that Defendants can fully exercise their 

rights. 

• An Injunction Preventing Further Obstruction of Homebound Services: To ensure 

compliance with medical directives and prevent further harm to H.S. 

• Dismissal of Plaintiff's Claims with Prejudice: Due to the clear abuse of process and 

failure to adhere to legal obligations. 

1l. A. Sands Anderson's Violations of Client Agreement 

Sands Anderson was contracted to provide limited legal services for PCPS but has overstepped 

the scope of the client agreement in a manner that has caused significant harm. Specifically: 

1, Unauthorized Access to Confidential Records: Sands Anderson attorneys improperly 

accessed student records—both educational and medical—without the necessary consent 

from parents or guardians, violating both IDEA (20 U.S.C. § 1415) and HIPAA. The 

school district's improper involvement in this matter further exacerbates the violation. 

2. Obstruction of Advocacy: Sands Anderson's actions, including interference with the IEP 

team and hindrance of parental involvement, have obstructed H.S. 's ability to advocate 
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effectively for their child, undermining the fundamental rights guaranteed under IDEA. 

By blocking the parent's access to records and interfering with special education 

procedures, Sands Anderson has violated the provisions of IDEA, which guarantees the 

right to participate meaningfully in the development of their child's education plan. 

• PCPS's Violation of IDEA and Related Laws 

1. Compulsory Attendance Violations: H.S. was found exempt from compulsory 

attendance under Virginia Code 22.1-254(j) due to mental illness on April 16, 2024 by 

the Powhatan County J and D Court. PCPS's continued enforcement of attendance 

policies, including the issuance of truancy-related documents and criminal charges, 

directly violates H.S.'s IDEA rights. This repeated failure to consider H.S.'s mental health 

needs constitutes a denial of FAPE (Free and Appropriate Public Education), as required 

by IDEA (34 C.F.R. § 300.101). 

2. Failure to Convene a Manifestation Determination Review: In violation of IDEA (20 

U.S.C. § 1415(k)), PCPS and Sands Anderson failed to convene a Manifestation 

Determination Review (MDR) before subjecting H.S. to criminal truancy charges. The 

lack of an MDR further demonstrates the school's disregard for H.S. or her father's 

educational rights under federal law. 

3. Sands Anderson's Overreach and Unauthorized Legal Actions 
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Sands Anderson has unlawfully imposed itself in matters outside of its contractual 

responsibilities, specifically by initiating excessive billable hour-generating and retaliatory 

litigation; including SLAPP lawsuits filed against the Halvorsens, Skingers, and Dr. Lucas. 

These lawsuits were filed without consent from the school board, constituting an abuse of 

process and a violation of Virginia's Anti-SLAPP statutes. Additionally, Sands Anderson's 

involvement in these matters was unauthorized under their client agreement with PCPS. 

• Sands Anderson's Intrusion Into Special Education and Legal Overreach 

Sands Anderson, by asserting an unfounded legal right to interfere with H.S. 's access to special 

education services and involvement in the IEP process, has violated not only the IDEA but also 

Virginia Code 22.1-254 and related confidentiality provisions. The law is clear: only qualified, 

licensed individuals are authorized to make determinations about special education 

programming and placements. Sands Anderson's actions—especially its unauthorized 

interference in daily educational decisions and its wrongful assertion of authority to manage 

records—are both illegal and unethical. 

• Failure to Provide Due Process Protections 

The actions taken by PCPS and Sands Anderson have systematically denied due process 

protections guaranteed under federal law, including the right to participate in the educational 

decision-making process. The failure to adhere to IDEA procedural safeguards, including 

providing adequate access to records, timely responses to requests, and conducting required 

reviews (such as MDRs), reflects a systemic disregard for the legal rights of parents and children 

with disabilities. 
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• Obstruction of Parental Rights and Advocate Representation 

PCPS, through the actions of Sands Anderson, has infringed upon the parental rights to 

advocate for their child under IDEA (20 U.S.C. § 1415). Parents have the right to meaningfully 

participate in the decision-making process, and any obstruction of this right is a direct violation 

of IDEA. Furthermore, Sands Anderson's interference with the efforts of Dr. Lucas to advocate 

for the H.S. family constitutes unlawful obstruction of the advocate's professional rights to 

provide counseling and education services. 

• Harm Caused by Sands Anderson's Actions 

The harm caused by Sands Anderson's unauthorized actions, including interference with IEP 

teams and violating confidentiality protections, is significant. The wrongful actions have led to 

unnecessary legal expenses, delays in educational programming, emotional distress, and undue 

hardship on H.S. and their family. These actions must be rectified through the remedies outlined 

below. 

IV. REMEDIES SOUGHT 

1. Immediate Termination of Sands Anderson's Contract: Due to egregious violations of the 

client agreement and legal overreach. 

2. Full Refund of Billable Hours: Incurred for unauthorized legal actions, including the 

SLAPP lawsuits, returned to taxpayers. 
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3. Dismissal of the Halvorsen/Lucas and Skinger/Lucas SLAPP Lawsuits: Filed by Sands 

Anderson on behalf of PCPS without school board consent. 

4. Promotion of ILS. to Seventh Grade: withoutfurther obstruction. 

5. Payment of A.H.'s Past-Due Tuition: To Believe N U Academy immediately,without 

further obstruction. 

6. Injunction Against Sands Anderson: Prohibiting them from engaging in unauthorized 

legal actions related to special education. 

7. Appointment of Independent Special Education Case Managers: For H.S. and A.H. at 

public expense without further obstruction. 

8. Revocation of Licenses for Sands Anderson Attorneys and PCPS Officials: Involved in 

obstructing the rights of the family. 

9. Financial Compensation of $300,000/Each: To Dr. Lucas, the Skingers, and the 

Halvorsens for damages resulting from Sands Anderson's unlawful actions. 

V. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, Defendants respectfully request that the Court DENY Plaintiff's 

Emergency Motion for Preliminary Injunction in its entirety. PCSB has failed to demonstrate 
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a likelihood of success on the merits, irreparable harm, a favorable balance of equities, or that an 

injunction would serve the public interest. 

In addition, restricting IDEA Due Process rights would be like silencing whistleblowers in a 

corrupt system. Imagine a corporate whistleblower who uncovers widespread fraud, safety 

violations, and unethical behavior in a company. Laws exist to protect the whistleblower's right 

to report wrongdoing without retaliation. However, if that company were allowed to block or 

restrict the whistleblower from filing complaints—or worse, punish them for speaking out—the 

entire system of accountability would collapse. 

Similarly, the IDEA grants parents and advocates the unrestricted right to file due process 

complaints when a school fails to provide a child with disabilities the education they are entitled 

to by law. Schools and their attorneys (such as Sands Anderson) attempting to limit, punish, or 

obstruct these filings are engaging in the same kind of cover-up and retaliation that a corrupt 

corporation would use against a whistleblower. Just as restricting a whistleblower enables fraud 

to continue unchecked, restricting the right to due process enables school districts to violate 

special education laws without consequence—at the direct expense of vulnerable children. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Co-Defendant Todd Skinger, Parent, Pro Se: 

Co-Defendant Dr. Kandise Lucas, : ' ocate, P . S 

Date:3/28/25 

Date: 3/28/25 
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*Exhibits, from 2/5/24 to 3/28/25 included; as grounds for each due process 

1) Dr. Talibi's medical certifications and medical excuses that continue to be 

fraudulently concealed 

2) Sands Anderson and PCSB's February 2022 Client Agreement 

3) November 16, 2024 email communication from Magistrate Summer Spieght 

regarding II. S. and PCPS/Sands Anderson's obstruction of medically necessary 

homeobound instruction. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify on this the 28th day of March, 2025 that I will transmit the motion above to the 
following parties via email: 

1)Clerk of the Court (hand delivered) 
701 East Broad Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 

Matthew D. Green (VSB No. 46913) 
Laura Maughan (VSB No. 87798) 
Sands Anderson PC 
919 East Main Street, Suite 2300 (23219) 
P.O. Box 1998 
Richmond, VA 23218-1998 
Telephone: (804) 648-1636 
Facsimile: (804) 783-7291 
mgreen@sandsanderson. com 
lmaughan@sandsanderson.com 
Counsel for Powhatan County School Board 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

[Richmond Division] 

POWHATAN COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

Civil Action No. 3:24-cv-874 

MR. TODD SKINGER, PARENT; 

and 

DR. KANDISE LUCAS, BA, MSED, RBT, FFT, PHD, QMHP 

COMPANION-ADVOCATE 

Defendants 

LOCAL RULE 83.1 (N) CERTIFICATION 

I declare under penalty of perjury that: No attorney has prepared or assisted in the preparation of 

DEFENDANTS' OBJECTION TO PLAINTIFF'S EMERGENCY MOTION FOR 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

Name of Pro Sc Party ( 

Signature of Pro 

Executed on: Ma'r~h'2Z 2025 
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OR The following attorney(s) prepared or assisted me in preparation of 

(Title of Document)  

(Name of Attorney)  

(Address of Attorney) 

(Telephone Number of Attorney) Prepare. or assisted in the preparation of, this document. 

(Name of Pro Se Party (Print or Type) 

Signature of Pro Se Party Executed on: (Date) 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

[Richmond Division] 

POWHATAN COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, 

Plaintiff, 

Civil Action No. 3:24-cv-874 

MR. TODD SKINGER, PARENT; 

and 

DR. KANDISE LUCAS, BA, MSED, RBT, FFT, PHD, QMIIP 

COMPANION-ADVOCATE 

Defendants 

LOCAL RULE 83.1 (N) CERTIFICATION 

I declare under penalty of perjury that: No attorney has prepared or assisted in the preparation of 

DEFENDANTS' OBJECTION TO PLAINTIFF'S EMERGENCY MOTION FOR 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

Name of Pro Se Party (Print or Type): Mr. Todd Skinger 

Signature of Pro Se Party: 

Executed on: March 28, 2025 
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OR The following attorney(s) prepared or assisted me in preparation of 

(Title of Document)  

(Name of Attorney)  

(Address of Attorney)  

(Telephone Number of Attorney) Prepared, or assisted in the preparation of, this document. 

(Name of Pro Se Party (Print or Type)  

Signature of Pro Se Party Executed on: (Date) 
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growth from infancy through their thriving years into adolescence and 

young adulthood. His favorite aspect of his role as a pediatrician is 

multifaceted—from helping new parents navigate the sometimes 

overwhelming early months and years to being a constant presence as 

families evolve and children grow. He values the connections he forms 

with families and strives to provide them with the same care he would 

offer to his own children. 

Outside of work, Dr. Talibi enjoys sports, IPAs and spending time with his 

dog, Toby (and family, too). A Toronto, Canada native, he appreciates that 

Richmond is a relatively big city with small-town charm. 

Case 3:24-cv-00874-REP     Document 22-1     Filed 03/28/25     Page 2 of 38 PageID# 375



52
45

79
77

67
87

83
00

24
7.

jp
g 

3/
28

/2
5,

 1
:5

9 
P

M
 

Commonwealth Pediatrics 
7023 Old Jahnke Road 
Richmond. VA 23225 

(804) 320-1353 
(804)320-6636 

RETURN TO WORK/SCHOOL 

3/27/2025 

seen in our office on 3/27/2025 accompanied 
by: Todd_Skinger 

She may return to worklschool on  3 / 27 / 25  Physical limitations include _Please excuse early dismissal on 
3/25, absence on 3/26 and tardiness on 3/27/25 In the future, please give.er medicine for panic attacks as long as 
she states she has not already had it that day. 

,.2
AZhar A. Talibi MD 

Provider Signature 
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3/28/25, 1:56 PM 

2:12 

Inbox 

(~' 
Re - NOT Released By Dr. 
Talibi To Return To School.. (Since 
215124) 

2 Messages 

image1.png 

..11 LTE ■ ) 

r\ v 

Azhar Talibi 1:06 PM 
To: Kandise Lucas > 

To confirm, I have not released 
to return to school due to ongoing`issues with 
her health. These include her prior diagnosis of 
anxiety, as well as the current school not being 
a safe environment fork (please refer to 
prior episodes on bullying from students, 
traumatic events such as arresting Dr. Lukas on 
school grounds in front ofz during a panic 
attack, and non-compliance by school 
personnel regarding her health plan for her 
anxiety). 

Azhar Talibi, MD 

Get Outlook for iOS 

See More a 
5 Kandise Lucas Yesterday 

Dr. Talibi, You have repeatedly and clearl... 

https://drivegoogle.com/drive/u/O/recent 1/1 
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3/28/25, 1:59 PM 5194958863316088726.jpq 

Commonwealth Pediatrics 
7023 Old Jahnke Road 
Richmond, VA 23225 

(804)320-1353 
(804)320-6636 

RETURN TO WORK/SCHOOL 

was seen in our office on 3/27/2025 accompanied
b  Todd 5kinger 

Please excuse early dismissal on 3/25, absence on 3/26 and tardiness on 3/27/25. Due to her anxiety, she may need to go 

home early today. In the future, please give Cher medicine for panic attacks as long as she states she has not already 
had it that day. Please continue to check her blood pressure when she has a panic attack and needs to come to the nurse's 
office. Her normal blood pressures are 100-120/ 60-80. 

'4 c ;& ,14O 
Azhar A. Talibi MD 

Provider Signature Provider Name 

https://drive.google.com/drive/u/0/recent 1/1 
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3/28/25, 1:56 PM Dr.Talibi8.2024Excuse 

8/23/2024 

ommonwsalth Pedlstrtas 
7023 Old Jahnke Road 
Richmond, VA 23225 

(804) 320-1353 
(804)320-6636 

RETURN TO WORK/SCHOOL 

seen 'in 
our office on 8/23/2024 accompanied 

Dad 

_Please excuse absences from 8/19/24 to 8/30/24. The date of return may be determined by her progress with Homebound 
services. 

Provider Signature Provider Name 
Azhar A Talibl MD 

https://drive.google.com/drive/u/0/recent 1/1 
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3/28/25, 1:40 PM Dr.Talibi8.2024Excuse 

8/23/2024 

by. 

mon Wealth Pudt'tr14Y 
7023 Old Jahnke Road 
"Rlchmond, VA 23225 

(804) 320.1353 -
(604)320-6638

RETURN TO WORK/SCHOOL 

Was 
seen in 

our office on 8/23/2024 accompanied 
Dad 

_Please excuse absences from 8/19/24 to 8/30/24. The date of return may be determined by her progress with Homebound 
services. 

Provider Signature Provider Name' 
Azhar A. Talibi MD 

https://drive.google.com/drive/u/0/search?q=talibi 1/1 
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3/28/25, 1:44 PM Dr.Talibi8.2024Excuse 

Commonwealth Pediatrics 
7023 Old Jahnke Road 
Richmond, VA 23225 

(804) 320-1353 
(804) 320-6636 

RETURN TO WORK/SCHOOL 
8/23/2024 

by. Dad 

_Please excuse absences from 8/19/24 to 8/30/24. The date of return may be determined by her progress with Homeoound 
services. 

 was seen In our office on 8/23/2024 accompanied 

Azhar A. Talibl MD 
Provider Signature Provider Name 

https://drive.google.com/drive/u/0/search?q=talibi 1/1 
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P-211 

11~#U 

X Dr.Talib2.29.24Excuse 

a1 LTE '4► T'~ 

..• 

2/29/2024 

nper 
Patient pate of Birth.10/9/2010 

To Whom It May Concern, 

been on medication for anxiety (sertraline) since 9/2S12023 Her anxiety had been fairly manageable but 
worsened sigruticantly after she experierced what has been reported to me as inappropriate sexualtymediated contact with a 
teacher at her school Her er sty has been signhcantly worse over thg past few weeks starting on or about 2/i 8/24 and she 
feels unsafe at her Current school. As a result I have added a new medication (hydroxyzine) to be taken on an as-needed 
bass starting on 2)21/24, 

O n W~.~ 

O 
G 

♦„, Cl) 

t5400 WC Commons Way 
Midlothian, VA 23113.7341

(804)5.49-4405 

Sincerely, 

'(. .' &. 4'O 
Provider Signature 

Aztrar,4 Taqbi MD 
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P-2/2 

developmental coordination disorder. 

2. The strengths of the student; 
Alex has not attended PCPS school since November 2021. He was placed by his parents in a private day school for a 
portion of the 2023-2024 school year. As reported by Believe-N-U, Alex very often comes to class prepared, performs 
class/homework assignments, stays on task until assignment is completed, and is attentive and cooperative. 

3. The academic, developmental, and functional needs of the student; 
Alex has not attended PCPS school since November 2021.As reported by Believe-N-U, Alex has received all A's in his 
classes. 

4. The concerns of the parent(s) for enhancing the education of their child; 
TO be updated at the IEP held on May 1, 2024... 

5. The communication needs of the student; 
When last enrolled in POPS, Alex received weekly speech services to address his communication and conversation 
needs in social situations. 

6. The student's needs for benchmarks or short-term objectives; 
Benchmarks or short term objectives are not needed for the development of appropriate IEP goals. 
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sYF6~tivi\ H 

J ... _ ...~..., ,O I~gMM . 
EBOUND INSTRUCTION 

MEDICAL CERTIFICATION OF NEED 
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P-2/4 

11:01 -•

X 

.i LTE .* 

Dr.TalibFaxToPCPSMiddleSc... q 

Commonwealth 

Pediatrics 

o.teo - J D !V.( 

From; L ...\ .rrnrt~O nA 1 J C . _ ... 

F.*: d+ pi's-51O T _ 

Subjtct: L'lGl.n~~(

McSaa~t:

-_ LL th tCJ 

Total 104 PAgIS fincludint cover Sfieetf: 

CONFIOENT1AUTY STATEMENT 

Th(' rnformal10n containedn this tran)mn)ronrs conlydentul, propnetary of prry,le Qedind may be SLbJ ett to protect+On undo! the 4w, ndudn1 the Neahh !n)„ranre Portab+Iiry and 4rcountaf ty Act f /tlPAA). The message +s intended for tneso4 use of the mdvrdwl or entry to whirl, ri is addressed. If you are nor the +tended 2rlprerri. you are notAKdthat n'NY 4k, d4tr:butwn or copyrn j pf the message b prolrlbited and may sub;ect you to Lnmit7 al or civY( penafti If 1rou !ectived thr) tra, srmssen ,n error_ pteate contact the )ender Mted above and destroy the document 
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11:aa •

X Dr.TalibExcuse2.8.24 

Westchester Commons • CommonweaISh Ped.uu cs 
15400 WC Commons Way 

Mid othian, VA 23113.7341 
~F.. t• 6.5405 

.1 LTE t*i } 

Q 

_________ r has been under my care far anxiety. 

may return to work/school on  2 1 12  / 24 with the following 

Restrictions may return to school with her normal and oxpected accommodal0ns ?or anxiety and panic attacks. 

Please excuse absences from 215 to 2x9124 
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P-2/6 

8:55M 

X Dr.Talib 2.28.24 

.iiLTEtf Et 

... 

5400 WC Commons Wey 
Mdlothan. VA 23113-x734? 

(804)54@-5405 

To Whom it May Concern, 

Please excuse absences from 2.12 to 3r1r24 Harley may need to miss more schoot as she is in the process of applying for 
Homebound irstruction Any delay in getting the croDer docarrertation to the school is the fault o my office. We were 
supposed to fax the Homebound form to Powhatan Middle School but do not see any documentation that this was done 
The form will be included with this note. 

Sincerely, 

Provider Sigr.atJre 

Azha A Talilti MD 
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P-2/7 

8:55 ® ..i 5G C1 

X Dr.Talib2.29.24Excuse Q .,. 

I 

dIEirt
15400 WC Commonslti`ay 

M dlothian, VA 231 l37341 

1804) 549-5105 

229/2024 

t
Patient Gate oS 13r th 09 2010 

To Whom it May Concerr, 

~ as been on medication for anxiety )seriratinei since 9+2512023 Her anxiety had been fairly manageable but 

worsened sign=ficantly after she experienced what has been reported to me as inappropriate sexually-mediated contact wtth a 
teacher at her school. Her anxiety has been signficantly worse over the past tow weeks starting on or about 2116124 and she 
ree s unsafe at her current school. As a result, ! have added a new medication {hydroxyzine) to be taken on an as-needed 
besa starting on 2121124. 

Sincerely 

Pry Vale( S~ynatwe 

Azhar A Tafibi MO 
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P-2/8 

8:53 

X image000000.jpg 

.11 LTE fJ 

Q 

154©0 WC Commons 'Nay 
M dlolhVan, VA 23113-7 341 

r004l 549 4O5 

22;2 024 

To Whom it May Concern, 

Please excuse absences `rom 2112 to 3f 1124 may need to mss more school as she .s in the process of applying for 
Homebound instruction. Any delay in petbn ee crroper documentation to the school is the fault o my office. We we:a 
aupposed to fax the Homebound tom+ to Powhatar M ddle School but I do rot see any documentation that this was done 
The torn, n It be included with this note 

Sincerely, 

4 & ,si 
Proyider Signature 

Azhar A Talibi MD 
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P-2/9 

To Whom it May 
Conce 

Please excuse absences from 2112 to 311124 H may need to miss more school as she is in the process of applying for 
Homebound instruction. Any delay in getting the proper documentation to the school is the fault of my office We were 
supposed to fax the Homebound form to Powhatan Meddle School but I do not see any documentation that this 
The form will be Included with this note 

Sincerely. 

Provider Signature 

Inboa Powhatan Middle Scho,.. n 

;x Todd Skinger 

lore from the school 

 Forwarded message 
'rem: Courtesy Jarman 
:umamflaii0llxSaSdpo-whdtan k12.va.yvr
late: Tee, Feb 27, 2024, 12:50PM 
iabject: Powhatan Middle School Attendance 
'o: 01 duyjogc@gplail toms

his is an email from the attendance office at 
'Owha,ao.54,ddle School to inform you that

er has been reported absent 
concoct the attendance off ice 

it 504' 362 - 250Q  emersion 1114  or 
espond to this email. Please be sure to include 
reason for the absence in your reply, to have 

he absence excused. 

'hank you and have a nice dept 

lenne Overton 

attendance Secretary 

Cr1 

through in it and en egtegbus lack of empathy 
on the behalf of the administration they're 
working towards putting Haley and land Harper 
by default all at financial ruin putting me in jail 
which would mean that they would be creating 
child endangerment for Harper end Halley 

 Forwarded message 
From: Courtney Jarman 
oumoe: s40g€T@Agwhatan k12.va use 
Date: Mon, Feb 26, 2024, 10:50AM 
Subject: Powhatan Middle School Attendance 
To:<LOQQ jgget5gpta,Lco0lo 

This is an email from the attendance office at 
Powhatan Middle School to inform you that 

er has been reported absent 
to 4. Please contact the 
attendance office at 504 -362-  2600, 
r'xterti,iplt 1 1 1 4 or respond to this email. 
Please be sure to include a reason for the 
absence in your reply, to have the absence 
excused. 

Thank you and have a nice dayt 

Denise Overton 

Attendance Secretary 

Fwd: Powhatan Middle School 

Attendance Halley Skinger 

Another notico about Halley 

  Forwarded message 
From: Courtney Jarman 

0piUgtfQd5Cttg0C':5Il!Y115lll,l yd,0.@> 
Date: Thu, Feb 22, 2024, 10:50AM 
Subject: Powhatan Middle School Attendance 
To: etgddski0ggL5.c rna:Lcgmn 

This is an email from the attendance office at 
Powhatan Middle School to Inform you that 

trIos been reported absent 
today 2122j2024. Please contact the 
attendance office at 0.04.-...302-:2SQQ, 
exterlston.1.114, or respond to this email. 
Please be sure to include a reason for the 
absence in your reply, to have the absence 
excused. 

Thank you and Sauce nice day! 

Denise Overton 

Attendance Secretary 

Fwd: Powhatan Middle School 

Attendance 

V ( Inbox ', ( Inboa 

© Todd Sareger 
To: 

 Forwarded message 
From: Courtney Jarman 
ogn15rOSSCOge ipoy.haionkl2.va.45c 
Date: Tue, Feb 20, 2024,10 b0 AM 
Subject: Powhatan Middle School Attendance 
To: elcddskincctjin gn,a,l.comc

This is an email from the attendance office at 
Powhatan Middle School to inform you that 

been reported absent 
today' 2024. Please contact the 
attendance office at @Q1, 362.:.2500, 
eoLensiyn 7.114, or respond to this email. 
Please be sure to include a reason for the 
absence in your reply, to have the absence 
excused. 

Thank you and have a nice dayl 

Denise Overton 

Attendance Secretary 

Case 3:24-cv-00874-REP     Document 22-1     Filed 03/28/25     Page 17 of 38 PageID# 390



P-2/10 

8:55 ® .1I LTE [* 

Dr.Talib 2.28.24 Q 

'5440 WC Commons Way 
Midloth;an, VA 23113.7"341 

(804) 5495405 

228(2024 

Please excuse absences'rom 212 to 3i1r24 nay need to miss more school as she is in the process of applying for 
Homebound irstructron Any delay in getting the proper documentation to the school is the fault o f my office. We were 
supposed to fax the Homebound form to Powhatan Middle School, but do rot see any documentation that this was done 
The form will be included with this note 

Proy der Signature 

Aznar A Talibi MO 
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er Commons • Cornmonwealth PCtl,attir_s 
''.16400 WC Commons Way 

n VA 2311 -7341 
405 

bean under my care fcr rxiety, 

return to work/whool on  2 t 12 24 with the following 

may return to school with her normal and expected accommodations for anxiety and panic a"aci s. 

Prrease excuse absences from 215 to 2/9/24. 
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8:53 

X Dr.Talib 2.28.24 

.11 LTE [* 

4 

'.5400 WC Commons Way 
M cloth an. VA 23113-7341 

1804? 5a 9.5405 

.24 

?z 

c 

To Whom ; May Concern. 

Please excuse absences from 212 to 3!1,24' "p .may need to miss -rove school as she s in the process of applying for 
Homebound instruction Any delay in getting the proper documentation to the school ,s the fault of my office. We were 
supposed to fax the Homebound form to Poovhatan Middle School, but do not see any documentation that this was done 
The form wrlf be ncludeo with th,s note 

Provider Signature 

A2har 4 Talibi MD 
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P-2115 

10:19 : LTE C.._*i' 

3 Messages 

Inbox Attendance Plan Need-... 
n t/ 

School Board Chair Taylor and Vice Chair Hurt, 

WE ARE OUTRAGED.. .SEE: 

2/5/24, 2pm "Safety Plan" meeting that was arranged by our Student's private 
mental health provider, NOT Powhatan Public Schools. AP Socha arrived and 
triggered our student into a full blown panic attack. He did not leave on his own 
when requested to do so by our Student, who courageously advocated for her own 
SAFE PLACE. 

Our family will require a "no contact" order regarding AP Socha. This audio recording 
is horrific! 

l'oE 6054754700-403630-1648 
Audio Recording 
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P-2/16 

\rPF~ltt\ P 

MOME9OUND INSTRUCTION 
MEDICAL CERTIFICATION OF NEED 

#"LI 

I 
llomet.00iej nsiraction cMtl Ix tirade tractable to students whir air rnafatd at home ur m a health care facility foe 
perish that a o ctd parent normal sctax,l attto sane 1II VAC21)- I t 1-I NO;. The term "eoaflned at hone or ht a health 
art racliit ' means the student is unable to parnccpate m the normal day-to-day acuvhet typically expected during 
school aucrdanrr. and, abaencea Roar Inane arc infrequent. fur pencrdt of relatively ahnn duration, or to receive health 
care treecmert Students receiving hrrmebound ,nstructiun may not work or parncrpate ni extra-curricular acuvttics, non-
acrarknne acrivinet (such as field tnpst. or community activities unless there actiritres are tpecrfccaily outlined in the 
>tudeet. medical plan nfcare or the Indiridualcud Education Program of applicable) 

to be complttrd by the lirrnsed ph*alelan or licensed clinical psychologist providing care to the student for the 
cenditina fir wAlch the srrrirea are requeared,• 

\amco Srudcnr
' ♦amc of School _~_` ~~ y,~  _   Grade: _ \arure and extent of 

ilirnrsaL~—I

t rate of examnanon or dugnoau of this dlnas:  t i! 1 S. lathe ttudent confined at home or in a health care facility?  y  DYES r J NO /i.)F.. It the illness treatment mterminmt in namrc it g., tickle ail anemia, chenwtherapy fur chcldhood canner)' J 1'ES WO 7. Could tics child attend school if accomrnodationt are made by the school? U YES NO If yes, please list tPr accommodsriont required. If no, please cop am . fe ~~! .~~ ~ rare a,.,r „ 4•_ sire, 
/aa. .✓.r le.e„ alC~ f. 

k. Estimated date od return to school
W-

9 Explain ongoing treatment and.or 
y ~a./s,y 

!0. Fteq•,unty nf;reatrner,r "~-- 

Slgaatare of Ucented Pa}tkian'C7laical Pr ho ,e  k, -- --f " L
Date 

_ ~Ni T~Ia iGl, rs✓? t Pay 
t C S

W
Print Phyakiaa/Pnchotogbr \ate  — f'~r/osli,c vA 1v1,re 

TeJcphoee Vatttther 

OAlrr Mdreat _...-- ---`-----
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P-2119 

Date;  2,  5 
r: 

To: 2 f ,u,dd  Oo1 

From: U CV Mt \o of QQ, 4k} 42tS— 

Far: " t ' D  5 O 

Sub' 

Message: 

  t  CILL 

total p of Pages (includlng cover sheet): 

CONFIOENTlAtjTy STATEMENT 

3 

The nformation contained In this transmission is confident a., proprietary of privileged and may be subject to protectSov( under the law, including the Health Insurance Portabddy and Accountability Act (HIPAA), The message is intended for the sole use of the individual or entryto which tic addressed it you are not the Intended recipient, you are nouf ed th may use, distributmn or copying of the message is prohibited and may subject you to criminal or civil penalties. If you received this transmission ri error, please contact the sender listed ahgve and destroy the document. 

OLD JANNKE ROAD 
702.3 OLD JAHNKE ROgO 
RICHMOND, VA 2322b 

1804) 320-lao.j 

W W 
W.COMMONWEALIHPEDS.COM 

HARBOUR POINTS WESTCHESTER COMMONS 6510 HAR80Up VIEW CT, STE 100 15400 WC COMMONS WAY MIDLOTHIAN, VA 23112 
MIDLOTHIAN, VA 23113 18041 739-13180 

(804) 544_5.405 
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P-2/20 

a 

o U 

n 

w 9c

C) ( _ 

15400 WC Commons Way 
Midlothian, VA 23113-7341

(804)549.5405

2129/2024 

To Whom it May Concern, 

_______has been on medication for anxiety (serlraline) since 9/2512023. Her anxiety had been fairly manageable but 

worsened significantly after she experienced what has been reported to me as inappropriate sexually-mediated contact with a 

teacher at her school. Her anxiety has been signficantly worse over the past few weeks starting on or about 2/16/24 and she 

feels unsafe at her current school. As a result, I have added a new medication (hydroxyzine) to be taken on an as-needed 
basis starting on 2/21!24 

Sincerely 

Provider Signature 
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CLIENT ENGAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS CLIENT ENGAGEMENT AGREEMENT, dated as of  Februolry  3  , 2022 
(this "Agreement"), by and between Sands Anderson PC (the "Firm"), and Powhat1an County 
Public Schools (collectively, the "Client"), provides as follows: 

I. Legal Services. The Firm agrees to represent the Client in connection with education 
law matters as from time-to-time are requested by Client. The Representation shall be contingent 
upon the Finn's receipt of a fully-executed copy of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
in the event that legal services have been or are rendered by the Firm prior to the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement, the Client shall pay for such services rendered in accordance with the 
terms of this Agreement. 

2. Fees. The fees ("Fees") that the Firm shall charge the Client for the Representation 
shall be calculated by multiplying (i) the total number of hours and any fraction thereof, rounded up 
to the nearest one-tenth (1/10 h̀) of an hour, that each of the Firm's attorneys and staff spend working 
on the Representation, by (ii) the respective hourly billing rates, which are subject to change from 
time to time, and shall initial be as follows: 

Initial Billing Rates 
Shareholders: $350.00 
Counsel: $320.00 
Associates: $250.00 
Paralegals: $190.00 
Law Clerks: $190.00 

3. Expenses. The Client shall fully reimburse the Firm for all out-of-pocket costs and 
expenses of any kind or character (collectively, the "Expenses") incurred by the Firm in connection 
with the Representation. The Firm may, as it deems appropriate, forward one or more vendor 
invoices related to the Representation directly to the Client for payment, and the Client hereby agrees 
to fully pay all such invoices in accordance with their respective terms. 

4. Payment Terms. 

(a) Invoice; Net 30. The Firm may send to the Client a monthly statement 
("Invoice") of all outstanding Fees and Expenses due and owing as of the last day of the previous 
calendar month, and the Client shall pay all such Fees and Expenses no later than thirty (30) days 
following the date of each such Invoice. In the event that the Client fails to pay any Fees and/or 
Expenses when due and owing, the Client shall be charged interest on any unpaid Fees and Expenses 
at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, compounded monthly, for each day that such Fees 
and Expenses remain unpaid after their due date, and the Client shall reimburse the Firm for any and 
all attorneys' fees and related costs and expenses incurred in collecting any outstanding Fees and/or 
Expenses hereunder. 

(b) Time of the Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to all of the Client's 
financial obligations under the Agreement. 
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POWHATAN COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
Inspiring Empowering Innovating 

Powhatan County Public Schools prepares students to thrive in a global community. 

March 10, 2023 

Mrs. Kathy Halverson 

kathybofva@aol.com

Dear Mrs. Halverson: 

Powhatan County Public Schools is in receipt of your March 6, 2023 request to "provide client engagement 

agreement dated 2/3/22 for sands anderson." 

Your request for information has been processed in accordance with the Virginia Freedom of 

Information Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.). The record responsive to your request is attached. 

Sincerely, 

Beth N. Teigen 

Superintendent/Acting FOIA Officer 

encl: Client Engagement Agreement 

Pocahontas Landmark Center 
4290 Anderson Highway • Powhatan, Virginia 23139 • 804-598-5700 • www.powhatan.k12.va.us 

Division Superintendent • Beth N. Teigen, Ph.D. 
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5. No Guarantee of Result. The Firm makes no representation or assurance regarding 
the result or outcome of the Representation, and the Client hereby acknowledges that no such 
representation or assurance has been made, and agrees that there is no guarantee of the result or 
outcome of the Representation. 

6. No Third-Party Beneficiary; Client Relationship. The Firm and the Client agree 
that neither the Representation nor this Agreement creates a third-party beneficiary relationship with 
any party, whether or not specifically mentioned in any legal document prepared for you, and the 
parties expressly disclaim any such third-party beneficiary relationship. 

7. Termination. Either party may terminate this Agreement at any time, with or 
without cause, by providing written notice of such termination to the other, provided, however, that 
such a termination shall not release the Client or any Guarantor, as identified below, from their 
respective payment obligations hereunder, with respect to any Fees and/or Expenses accrued or 
incurred under this Agreement, including those necessary to formally withdraw from the 
Representation. 

8. File Retention. During the Representation, the Finn will provide to the Client, where 
applicable, copies of certain documents generated or received by the Firm. At the conclusion of the 
Representation, the Firm will maintain an electronic copy of the Client's file for a period of seven 
(7) years. The Client agrees that after seven years, the Firm may destroy the Client's file without 
further notice. 

9. Miscellaneous. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, all of 
which taken together shall constitute one original. A facsimile or .pdf scanned electronic copy of 
any signature to this Agreement shall have the same force and effect as the original. If the Client 
consists of more than one party, then all of the Client's obligations hereunder shall be joint and 
several among such parties. The section headings herein are for convenience of reference only, and 
shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement. This Agreement shall not be construed against 
the drafting party. The invalidity of any portion of this Agreement shall not invalidate the remainder 
of this Agreement. All understandings and agreements of the parties with respect to the 
Representation are merged into this Agreement. This Agreement may not be assigned by either 
party. This Agreement shall be binding on the Client's heirs, personal representatives, and 
successors. As used in this Agreement, the singular of any word shall include the plural, and vice 
versa. This agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia without reference to that jurisdiction's choice-of-law jurisprudence. 

WITNESS the following signatures as of the date first above written. 

SANDS ANDERSON PC 

By:  
Printed Name: Bradford A. 
Title: Shareholder 

POWHATAN COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

UMt. I )rt(1i 

Printed Name: Kim Drew H I>el 
Title: Board Chair 
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3/28/25, 12:53 PM Gmail - Creative Resolution 

fri GmaU kandise lucas <kandiselucas@gmail.com> 

Creative Resolution 

Summer Speight <Summer_Speight@vaed.uscourts.gov> 
To: kandise lucas <kandiselucas@gmail.com> 

Dr. Lucas, 

Thank you for your email and continued thought into creative solutions. After fully reviewing and digesting the information you have provided, I will reach out if I think that you and the School I 

Thank you, 

Summer L. Speight 

United States Magistrate Judge 

Eastern District of Virginia 

701 East Broad Street 

Richmond, Virginia 23219-3528 

(804) 916-2860 (chambers) 

(804) 916-2869 (fax) 

From: kandise lucas <kandiselucas@gmail.com> 
Sent: Friday, November 15, 2024 4:41 PM 
To: Summer Speight <Summer_Speight@vaed.uscourts.gov> 
Subject: Creative Resolution 

CAUTION - EXTERNAL: 

Grand Rising Judge Speight, 

I want to express my sincerest appreciation for your time and understanding during our settlement conference on November 13, 2024. 

It was refreshing and sparked a slight flint of hope in my spirit, after nearly two decades of advocating for our families throughout the Commonwealth, nation, and the world. You asked me to f 

In the spirit of resolution, which has never been extended to our families throughout the Commonwealth by Reed Smith/Sands Anderson, I am proposing the following amended counterpropo: 

1) Alexander will begin at BNU IMMEDIATELY with transportation as a related service immediately as well. If this has not been done already, the Halvorsens will be reimbursed for all legal, to 
that Alexander was a "fourth grade drop out" prior to Alexander having his fresh start at BNU). Alex will resume matriculation at BNU per Dr. Federici's April 2023 directive to PCPS and Sands 

a)-Ryan Seay will be fully reimbursed for his tuition for Penn Foster and his mother, Tammy Seay, will be reinstated as a special education driver; (transporting Alexander to and from BNU). A 

b)-Connor Guy will be placed at New Community School immediately to address his reading deficits and dyslexia. His mother, Tracy Guy, will be reimbursed for all lost wages that she suffers 

c)-Hailey Skinger will be placed on medical homebound per Dr. Talibi's directives as of February 5, 2024. She will receive compensatory services to address the period of instructional depriva 
homebound instruction effective immediately, in math, english, science, and history at the SEVENTH grade level, and will amend her educational record to reflect that she is NOT retained in ti 
district and Sands Anderson will also reimburse Mr. Skinger the full cost of his attorneys fees required to combat the false and malicious allegations of truancy made against him. 

d) Carter Gunn will be returned to his grandmother's, Minister Cheryl Sims', full custody, and will be placed in long-term residential placement per Judge Innes' of Hopewell Virginia's order on 
associated with combating GCPS and Sands Anderson to regain custody of her grandson, and avoid criminal prosecution for malicious child abuse charges to CPS. 

2) Powhatan County Public Schools will implement, beginning IMMEDIATELY "restorative justice" resolution practices as a component of the dispute resolution system that can be requested 

3) Sands Anderson attorneys that "support" school board's will be required to successfully complete the meaningful IEP development certification prior to engaging in any special education le 
Modules, Standards-Based IEP I Virginia Department of Education 

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=790266cfb8&view=lg&permmsgid=msg-f:1816096934134649565 1/73 
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3/28/25, 1:54 PM Gmail - In re Ryan Seay; VDOE Case No 25-121; Request for Dates for Pre-Hearing Conference 

From: Maughan, Laura 
Sent: Thursday, March 27, 2025 4:57 PM 
To: CAPT Prince <plprince@aol.com>; Owens, LaRana J. <LOwens@sandsanderson.com>; kandise lucas 
<kandiselucas@gmail.com>; seayryan26@gmail.com; lynn.prince@powhatan.k12.va.us; 
baseballmom77777@gmail.com; Brian Miller <millerlawlimited@aol.com> 
Subject: RE: In re Ryan Seay; VDOE Case No 25-121; Request for Dates for Pre-Hearing Conference 

Good Afternoon, 

During this morning's pre-hearing conference call, I was directed to address the following items. In compliance with 
Mr. Prince's directives, the responses to the issues are addressed below: 

1. Service of Subpoenas to Dr. Teigen and Ms. Hurt 
a. Dr. Teigen can be served at 4290 Anderson Highway, Powhatan, VA 23139 
b. Ms. Hurt can be served via email at: vicki.hurt@powhatan.k12.va.us 

i. Please note that the methods of service outlined here are 
limited to the service of subpoenas in this specific case, regarding the hearing in this case 
that is set for April 17, 2025. To be clear, these instructions should not be applied to any 
other cases or any other means of service of process or any other individual not specifically 
addressed in this email. 

ii. Additionally, the school division reserves the right to file any 
motion to quash, motion in limine, or other objection to these witnesses' appearance at the 
hearing, which, in its discretion, it deems appropriate to make. 

2. FOIA Requests 
a. PCPS respectfully objects to the Hearing Officer's requests concerning FOIA because a hearing officer 

presiding over an IDEA due process complaint has no jurisdiction to adjudicate or direct compliance 
with Virginia FOIA requests. Any complaints that the parent, advocate, or student may have concerning 
a response to a FOIA request should be addressed via the procedures and remedies available under 
that statutory provision. See, e.g., Va. Code Sec. 2.2-3700 et seq. 

b. Regarding recent FOIA requests concerning Mr. Seay, PCPS's FOIA Officer indicated that three FOIA 
requests were recently made by Mr. Seay (two on March 10, 2025 and one on March 22, 2025) and all 
three have been timely responded to. A response to his most recent request was issued today at 
10:25am. 

c. Any FOIA requests for Mr. Seay's scholastic records should be sent by Mr. Seay to PCPS's FOIA 
Officer. 

Thank you, 

laura maughan 

Laura Maughan 

Attorney 

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=790266cfb8&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1827505832565714147&dsgt=1 &simpl=msg-f:182750583... 89/96 
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The Virginia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), located § 2.2-3700 et seq. of the 
Code of Virginia, guarantees citizens of the Commonwealth and representatives 
of the media access to public records held by public bodies, public officials, and 
public employees. 

A public record is any writing or recording- regardless of whether it is a paper 
record, an electronic file, an audio file or video recording, or any other format-
that is owned by, or in the possession of a public body or its officers, employees 
or agents in the transaction of public business. All public records are presumed 
to be open, and may only be withheld if a specific statutory exemption applies. 

The policy of FOIA states the purpose of FOIA is to promote an increased 
awareness by all persons of governmental activities. In furthering this policy, 
FOIA requires that the law be interpreted liberally, in favor of access, and that 
any exemption allowing public records to be withheld must be interpreted 
narrowly 

FOIA RIGHTS 

You have the right to request or receive copies of public records, or both. 

You have the right to request that any changes for the requested records be 
estimated in advance. 

If you believe that your FOIA rights have been violated, you may file a petition in 
a district or circuit court to compel compliance with FOIA. Alternatively, you may 
contact the FOIA Council for a nonbinding advisory opinion. 

Making a Request for records from Powhatan County Public Schools 

You may request records by U.S. Mail, fax, email, in person, or over the phone. 
From a practical perspective, it is helpful to the requester and PCPS that the 
request be in writing. This allows you to create a record of your request and 
assists PCPS in understanding exactly what records you are requesting and 
expediting a response. It also gives a clear statement of what records you are 
requesting, so that there is no miscommunication over a verbal request. 
However, we cannot refuse to respond to your FOIA request if you elect to not 
put in writing. 
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Such requests should be dated, and must state with "reasonable specificity" 
the documents requested so that POPS can identify and locate the records 
you are seeking. The requestor shall provide his or her name and legal 
address when making a request. You may choose to receive electronic 
records in any format used by POPS in the regular course of business. 

Your request must ask for existing records or documents. FOIA gives you the 
right to inspect or copy records; it does not apply to a situation where you are 
asking general questions about the work of Powhatan County Public Schools, 
nor does it require POPS to create a record that does not exist. 

You may choose to receive electronic records in any format used by POPS in 
the regular course of business. 

For example, if you are requesting records maintained in an Excel database, 
you may elect to receive those electronically, via email or on a computer disk, 
or to receive a printed copy of those records. 

If we have questions about your request, please cooperate with the staff's 
efforts to clarify the type of records that you are seeking, or attempt to reach a 
reasonable agreement about a response to a large request. 

To request records from Powhatan County Public Schools, please direct your 
request to: 

Terri Allison 

Powhatan County Public Schools 

Pocahontas Landmark Center 

4290 Anderson Highway 

Powhatan, VA 23139 

Phone: 804-598-5700 

Email: terri.allison@powhatan.k12.va.us 
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In addition, the Freedom of Information Advisory Council is available to 
answer any questions you may have about FOIA. The council may be 
contacted by email at foiacouncil(a~dls.virginia.gov or by phone at (804)225-
3056 or 1-866-448-4100. 

Powhatan County Public Schools' Responsibilities in Responding to Your 
Request 

POPS must respond to your request within five working days of receiving it. 
"Day One" is considered the day after the request is received. The five-day 
period does not include weekends or holidays. 

POPS does require you provide your name and legal address. The reason for 
your request for public records from PCPS is not needed. 

FOIA does require that POPS make one of the following responses to your 
request within a five-day time period: 

1. We provide you with the records that you have requested in their 
entirety. 

2. We withhold all of the records you requested, because all of the records 
are subject to a specific statutory exemption. If all of the records are 
being withheld, we must send you a response in writing. That writing 
must identify the volume and subject matter of the records being 
withheld, and state the specific section of the Code of Virginia that 
allows us to withhold the records. 

3. We provide some of the records that you have requested, but withhold 
other records. We cannot withhold an entire record if only a portion of it 
is subject to an exemption. In that instance, we may redact the portion 
of the record that may be withheld, and must provide you with the 
remainder of the record. We must provide you with a written response 
stating the specific section of the Code of Virginia that allows portions 
of the requested records to be withheld. 

4. We inform you in writing that the requested records cannot be found or 
do not exist (we do not have the records you want). However, if we 
know that another public body has the requested records, we must 
include contact information for the other public body in our response to 
you 

5. If it is practically impossible for Powhatan County Public Schools to 
respond to your request within the five-day period, we must state this in 
writing, explaining the conditions that make the response impossible. 
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This will allow us seven additional working days to respond to your 
request, giving us a total of 12 working days to respond to your request. 

If you make a request for a very large number of records, and we feel that we 
cannot provide the records to you within 12 working days without disrupting our 
other organizational responsibilities, we may petition the court for additional time 
to respond to your request. However, FOIA requires that we make a reasonable 
effort to reach an agreement with you concerning the production or the records 
before we go to court to ask for more time. 

COSTS 

You may have to pay for the records that you request from PCPS. A public body 

may make reasonable charges not to exceed its actual cost incurred in accessing, 

duplicating, supplying, or searching for the requested records. This includes items 

like staff time spent searching for the requested records, copying costs, or any other 

costs directly related to supplying the requested records. You have the right to 

request that an estimated cost of production be provided in advance when you 

submit a request. 

If we estimate that it will cost more than $200 to respond to your request, we may 

require you to pay a deposit, not to exceed the amount of the estimate, before 

proceeding with your request. The five days that we have to respond to your request 

do not include the time between when we ask for a deposit and when you respond. 

If a requester has owed payment on a FOIA request for more than 30 days, PCPS 

will require payment of the past-due bill prior to processing a new FOIA request 

from that requester. 
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Commonly used exemptions 

The Code of Virginia allows any public body to withhold certain records from 
public disclosure. PCPS commonly withholds records subject to the following 
exemptions: 

• Personnel records (§ 2.2-3705.1 (1) of the Code of Virginia) 
• Records subject to attorney-client privilege (§ 2.2-3705.1 (2)) or attorney 

work product (§ 2.2-3705.1 (3)) 
• Vendor proprietary information (§ 2.2-3705.1 (6)) 
• Records relating to the negotiation and award of a contract, prior to a 

contract being awarded (§ 2.2-3705.1 (12)) 
Policy regarding the use of exemptions 

Since exemptions exist in order to protect some compelling public interest, it is 
inevitable that the school division will need to rely on exemptions in many cases. 
For that reason, it is the school division's practice to invoke all exemptions that 
are applicable to any request for records. This practice ensures that all citizens 
are treated the same way, to the greatest extent possible. 

• The general practice of Powhatan County Public Schools is to invoke the 
personnel records exemption in those instances where it applies in order to 
protect the privacy of employees and officials of Powhatan County Public 
Schools. 

• The general practice of Powhatan County Public Schools is to invoke the student 
scholastic exemption in those instances where it applies in order to protect the 
privacy of students of Powhatan County Public Schools. 
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3/28/25, 1:46 PM FOIA Request I Powhatan County Public Schools 

Careers Calendar Instruction Parent/Community Resources 

School Board Student Services 

Careers Calendar Instruction Parent/Community Resources 

School Board St dent Services 

MENU SCHOOLS 

PU'BH CC
TRANSLATE 

IL LST E 

POWHATAN 

COU^Empowering'

TY PUBLIC SCHOOLS. // FOIA PEQUEST 

Inspiring •  Innovating 

The Powhatan County School Board is committed to full compliance with the 

Virginia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and processes all requests for public 

records in accordance with Policy KBA and KBA-R. 

Laura McFarland, Communications Liaison, is Powhatan County School Board's 

FOIA Officer, The FOIA Officer serve(s) as a point of contact for members of the 

public in requesting public records and coordinate(s) the School Board's 

compliance with FOIA. The FOIA Officer may be reached at 

laura.mcfarland@powhatan.k12.va.us 

The Virginia Freedom of Information Act 

https://www.powhatan.k12.va.us/o/pcps/page/foia-request 1/2 
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3/28/25, 1:46 PM FOIA Request I Powhatan County Public Schools 

Powhatan County Public 

Schools 

4290 Anderson Highway 

Powhatan, VA 23139 

Powhatan, VA 23139 

Phone: 804-598-5700 

Fax: 804-598-5720 

Stay Connected 

Division-Wide 
Info 

• Acceptable Use Policy 

FOIA Information 

Internet Privacy Policy 

Download on the 

App Store 

GET IT ON 
'~ Google Play 

0 

Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with 
Powhatan Sheriff's Office 
(November 2023) 

Non-Discrimination 
Statement 

PCPS Title IX Training 

Website Accessibility 
Statement 

Community 

Continuing Adult 
Education 

Gold Card Program 

Advisory Committees 

Helping Hands Award 
Nomination Form 

Powhatan County 

Thank an Employee! 

Volunteer 

Copyright O 2025 Powhatan County Public Schools. All rights reserved. 
Powered By Apptegy 
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